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ABSTRACT

This study was made to preserve the story of the
Joplin & Pittsburg Railway Company, a transportation pioneer
in the Pittsburg, Kansas, district. The study begins with
the founding of Pittsburg, cursorily discusses the coming of
steam trunk lines, and treats of the electric lines which
were merged in 1910 to form the Joplin & Pittsburg Railway
Company. From this juncture the study deals with the pro-
gress of the line until its end in 1929, Chronological
order has been followed in the study in an effort to accen-
tuate the cause and effect aspects of the company's life.
Labor troubles, extensions, and finances have been given
considerable attention in order that it may be as apparent
as possible why the corporation failed.

Company records to 1929 are not extant, having been
willfully destroyed by purchasers of the property in that
year. Because of this, most material used in this study was

taken from the Pittsburg Headlight., To determine the cowpany's

expansions and obligations a book of franchises was used.

This book is the personal property of J. A. Fenimore. For
study of the early companies a considerable amount of material
was found in the Golden Jubilee Edition of the Pittsburg

Headlight, and Sister M. Augustine Clarahan's thesis, The
Founding and Early Development of Pittsburg.
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CHAPTER I
ANTECEDENTS OF THE JOPLIN & PITTSBURG RAILWAY COMPANY

Pittsburg, Kansas, came into being as New Pittsburg,
May 20, 1876, when the register of deeds at Girard filed
the first plat.l Coal, lead and zinc ore, and the build-
ing of a railroad were responsible for the birth of this
new city. In its early years three additional trunk lines
were added, and after a cursory examination of these, this
study will treat with several interurban lines which brought
trade into Pittsburg, swelled the population, increased the
city's wealth, and were later incorporated to form the
Joplin & Pittsburg Railway Company.

Rich deposits of ore had been found in southeastern
Kansas and southwestern Missouri, but the problem of re-
fining and marketing the metal remained to be solved.

The solution was afforded by Moffett and Sargent, two

smelters of Joplin, Missouri. In the summer of 1876 they
built a rail line from Joplin to Girard, Kansas. As soon
2

as the line was established, New Pittsburg was laid out.

This line, however, did not long remain independent,

lPittsburg Headlight, (hereinafter cited as Headlight),
May 19, 1926, Special Golden Jubilee Edition.

Lrred N. Howell, Kansas Historical Quarterly, I, 281;
Register of Deeds, Crawford County, book E, 108.

1



for on liay 26, 1879 it was purchased by the executives of
the St. Louls and San Francisco railroad.3 By this purchase
the Frisco became the first trunk line to enter Pittsburg.
It was not long after this transaction that the company pur-
chased coal bearing areas and became the largest coal producer
in the region..4

Some rail manipulation by Jay Gould brought the next
trunk line into Pittsburg. Gould controlled the Missouri,
Kansas, and Texas line but was attempting to weaken it for
the benefit of his own line, the Missouri Pacific. The
weakening was to be accomplished by building a NMissouri
Pacific cut-off which would divert freighﬁ and passenger
service from the M.K.&T. Franklin Playter, "father" of
Pittsburg, went to New York to confer with Gould concern-
ing the possibilities of running the cut-off through
Pittsburg. Gould agreed to run his line from Nevada,
Missouri, to Chetopa, Kansas, via Pittsburg if he were
presented with ample right-of-way and a small bonus for‘
construction of a depot and freight house. Work was begun
on the line in November, 1885, and the first train passed
through Pittsburg July 3, 1886.5

It was in the years 1885 and 1886 that a coal boom

3Records, Crawford County Abstract Company.

4pittsburg Sun, February 28, 1926.

SHeadlight, November 7, 1885; July 6, 1886; May 19, 1926.




struck the district and brought in ten new companies. Much
of this was due to the influence of the railroads.6

The third trunk line to enter the city was the Atchison,
Topeka, and Santa Fe. Undoubtedly this line was brought in
by its interest in coal, for soon after the arrival of the
Missouri Pacific the Santa Fe commenced an extension of its
line from Girard to the coal pits north of Pittsburg. By
November 1886, five months after the running of the first
Missouri Pacific train, the Santa Fe connected Pittsburg with
Frontenac and Girard. In about the same amount of time, the
company was in charge of two of the largest coal producing
mines in the Pittsburg field.7

The immediate effect of these first three lines may
be noted in the population rise in the region. In the
period from 1880 to 1890 the population of Pittsburg alone
inereased 973.24 per cent.8 On January 9, 1884, Pittsburg
was declared a city of the second class by Governor G. W.
Glick. It was not, however, until September 14, 1906 that
Pittsburg became a city of the first class, so proclaimed

by Governor W. R. Stubbs.9 This followed the coming of the

6Crawford County, Kansas, by Home Authors, 1ll1l.

"Headlight, November 18, 1886.

8Total population 6697, listed by wards. Compendium
f Eleventh Census, I, 684, Table 20,

9Record of Council Proceeding of Pittsburg, Kansas,
I, 151; Headlight, Way 1§1“T§§61'£



fourth trunk line and the extension of the interurban lines
to be discussed presently.

In connection with the increase of population one should
notice the expanded coal field in the area for the same period.
The year 1898 will serve best as an example of the coal oper-
ation in the region. Crawford county had fifty-three mines
in operation in the year mentioned. Approximately thirty of
these fifty-three mines were within a five mile radius of
Pittsburg, and approximately seventeen of the thirty lay
within a two and one-half mile radius of Pittsburg.lo Much
of this development lay with the influence of the railroads’
running through Pittsburg.

., The fourth trunk line, and the last, to reach Pittsburg,
was the Kansas City, Pittsburg, and Gulf. Later combined
with the Pittsburg, Fort Smith, and Southern, this line
bécame known as the Kansas City Southern. In the spring of
1900 the Kansas City Southern Railway Company was organized,
with Pittsburg the headquarters for the superinpendent of
the northern division. This division extends from Kansas
City to DeQueen, Arkansas, a distance of 433 miles.ll

While the trunk lines were being laid into Pittsburg,
electric lines were being laid, which were to branch into

the surrounding territory to draw heavily on the resources

Ouowe1l, op. cit., I, 274-275.

lyeadlight, May 19, 1926.



found there and with these resources nourish the growing
city. The first of these lines was known as the Pittsburg
Railway Company.

The first electric railway to come to Pittsburg was
the Pitfsburg Railway Company. A franchise for this road
was granted by the City Council to promoter B. F. Hobart,
March 20, 1890. The ordinance granting the franchise spec-
ified that at least two miles of track had to be laid to
make the franchise valid, and that the tracks must run northf
and south on Broadway. Inclﬁded, also, was the condition
that "all repair shops, rolling stock and offices shall be
in Pittsburg, Kansas. "2

Hobart, president of the Pittsburg Town Company and one
of the persons instrumental in locating the Cherokee Zinc
smelters in Pittsburg, was a heavy stockholder in both com-
panies and desired to see Pittsburg attain great growth.
With that in mind, he built more than two miles of track.
Instead of building one mile of tfack north of Fourth Street
and one mile south of Fourth Street, Hobart buiit nearly
three miles of track and doubled the track on Broadway from
Second to Tenth., The first cars ran over the line October
20, 1890. Two cars were used daily, with an extension to

the smelters as an accomodation to the smelter employees.15

1263ty Records, III, 253-258; Ordinances, 216-218.

lsHeadlight, May 19, 1926; Interviews with Mr. J. A.
Fenimore, February 14, 1948 and Mr. C. L. Crocker, April
15, 1948,




The first manager of the line was David Ramsay, who
had been superintendent of the Kansas and Texas Coal Com-
pany. While Ramsay was acting in the capacity of manager,
the Piftsburg Vitrified Paving Brick Company was attempting
to pave Broadway from Second to Tenth, the section of
Broadway double tracked by the rail line. Considerable
trouble was encountered by the paving crews with the street
car operatives running cars while the paving was being done.
In the ensuing trouble, the owners of the brick company,
Moore and Nesch, broke their partnership, Moore selling out
to Nesch. Ramsay, about the same time, resigned as manager
of the line, A. B. Cockerill, manager of the Weir smelters,
succeeding him.14

The Pittsburg Railway Company did not, as did some
succeeding roads, furnish its own power. A car barn and
light repair shop had been erected on the southwest corner
of Twentieth and Broadway.15 Power for the rail line was
purchased from the Pittsburg Gas, Light and Coke Company,
which was incorporated in the city in February ]:889.16
The line operated for several years and was then sold

to the Pittsburg, Frontenac and Suburban.l7

4 «
C:ls ? May ] g e.

15Ibid.

161pid.; city Records, II, 241; Ordinances, 225.

17Head1ight, May 19, 1926; Interview with Mr. J. A.
Fenimore, February 14, 1948,



The second electric rail line to come to Pittsburg
was the Forest Park Electric Railway. The franchise for
this line was granted, January 25, 1891,18 by the city of
Pittsburg, to Dr. George W. Williams and a few local business
men., Dr. Williams and the business men reassigned their
franchise to W, A. Swan, W. D. Ford, and E. Van Gunday, who
undertook to build the road.l®

Soon after work on the road was begun, Van Gunday with-
drew, and Swan and Ford completed the line east and west on
Fourth Street, the west end of the line terminating at the
Cow Creek Bridge. With some additional capital, the line
was extended into Forest Park, and with the interest of busi-
ness in mind, a band which had been entertaining Saturday
evenings at Fourth and Broadway was engaged to play evening
concerts in the park.zo

Business evidently was not too good, for in November,
1893, the Judge of the District Court, sitting for Crawford
County, Kansas, ordered the road to be sold at public auction
on January 22, 1894.2l This date was later changed to Feb-
ruary 23, 1894, when the sale actually took place.

On February 23, 1894, the auction was held at the

1801ty Records, II, 18-23.

19Head1ight, May 19, 1926.

201bid.

ZlIbig., January 3, 1894; Appendix E.



Pittsburg City Hall, and "the bidding was not very spirited,
there being only three bidders present in the good sized
crowd of people that assembled to witness the sale.“zz

The Forest Park Electric Street Railway was purchased
for $3,450 by L. Bedell, of the Neosho Valley Investment
Company, as a trustee of an eastern syndicate. The reporter
covering the sale said that, "At the price paid it is a good
property for the owner, and if it should be extended to
Frontenac as the purchasers contemplate doing in the spring,
it will be a profitable investment."?® The line was later
transferred to the Pittsburg, Frontenac and Suburban line.of
Pittsburg.

The Pittsburg, Frontenac and Suburban Railway Company
was brought to Pittsburg by W. C. Simons of Chetopa. Simons
had made a considerable sum in the Farm Loan Business of
Chetopa and had come to Pittsburg to pursue his ambition to
be a promoter of electric railway lines.24 On September 5,
1894, the city of Pittsburg granted Simons a thirty-five
year franchise.z5 .

Simons' first move as owner of the charter was to

purchase the Forest Park Electric Railway, which had been

221pid., February 23, 1894.
231914, ; Interview with T. F. Cole, May 6, 1948.
“4geadlight, May 19, 1926.

25Revised Ordinances, (1899), p. 265.




sold to an eastern syndicate on February 23, 1894. The
papers conveying the line to the Pittsburg, Frontenac, and
Suburban were signed in St. Louis, August 29, 1895,%6
Late in 1894, a car barn and a 75-kilowatt, 125-cycle
unit power plant were erected on East Twentieth Street by
contractor Fred Massmen.2” The plant was not finished for
full output until July 1, 1895, and in the interim the cars
- running on the Frontenac line, completed lMay 16, 1895 from
a junction of the Forest Park line on Fourth Street and Grand
Avenue, were seldom on schedule.z8
In October, 1896, the executives of the P. F., & S.
petitioned the City Council for an ordinance permitting
the company to sell power to the’ residents of Pim:sbux'g.‘?'9
The possibility of competition from the P. F. & S. brought
the Pittsburg Light and Coke Company officials before the
City Council in vociferous protest.30
After much discussion by all concerned, on October 12,
1896, Mayor Fisher signed the ordinance requeste@ by the

P. F., & S. There was a specific clause to be fulfilled,

26Headlight, August 29, 1895; May 19, 1926.

2Tgister M. Augustine Clarahan, The Founding and

Early Development of Pittsburg, 59; Headlight, lMay 19,
1926; Interview with T. F. Cole, May 6, 1948.

28
Headlight, May 19, 1926; Interview with T. F. Cole
Nay 6, 1948, ] ' :

29Headlight, October 10, 1896.

50Ibid.; Clarahan, op. cit., 59.
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however, requiring the line to build to the ecity of Chicopee
within six months. At that time, the P. F., & S. officials
announced the line would be completed in about two months
and that possibly the line would be extended to a point
south of Fleming, or north of Yale.31

The deadline for completion of the Chicopee line was

set for midnight, April 14, 1897.%%

On February 13, 1897,
Sam Barrett, superintendent of construction for the line,
announced that work would be commenced immediately.
Mussleman and Barclay, contractors of Kansas City, were to
build the extension within thirty days, and were under heavy
bond. The Kansas City contractors were listed for all work
except trestles and bridges; these were to be erected by
William Weaver, a well known builder, of Pittsburg.53

The line was not completed as early as contemplated, but
regular serviée was established by April 14, 1897. The party
making the initial trip was composed of W. C. Supp, W. C.
Simons, John Randolph, attorney for the road, a few company
employees, and a representative of the press. Tﬁis was the
last rail extension for nine years.34

Since the extension was completed on time, the franchise

became valid, and the P, F., & S. made ready to furnish

Slpeadlight, October 13, 1896.
521pid., May 19, 1926.
531bid., February 13, 1897.

341pid., May 19, 1926; Interview with T. F. Cole, liay
6, 1948; ‘Clarahan; wops elit., 55,
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current for commercial lighting. The plant had a capacity
for approximately 1000 lights, and 800 prospective users
anxiously awaited service.35
About this time, W. C. Simons died, and his son LeRoy
took the office formerly held by his father. Under young
Simons' guidance the road did not prove a success, and the
stockholders concluded that changes would have to be made.36
On February 10, 1898 stockholders of the P. F., & S.
held an annual meeting in the offices of the company. LeRoy
Simons presided as chairman, with A, L. Chaplin as secretary.
At this meeting a new board of directors was chosen, composed
of Morris Cliggitt, M. 0. Dick, F. B. Wheeler, J. A, Gibson,
all of Pittsburg, and J. J. Tyler, J. E. Jones, and Joseph
Anderson of Westchester, Penn.37
The stockholders present or represented at this gathering
were liorris Cliggitt, for eastern holders, 760 shares; F. B.
Wheeler, 4 shares; W. O. Dick, 10 shares; J. A. Gibson, 10
shares; LeRoy Simons, 55 shares; and R. G. Urmay. and Joseph
Anderson, 130 shares.s8
New officers (Morris Cliggitt, president; J. J. Tyler,

vice president; M. O. Dick, treasurer, and J. A. Gibson,

superintendent) were elected with the understanding that

35Interview with T. F. Cole, May 6, 1948.

36Headlight, May 19, 1926.
571bid., February 10, 1898; May 19, 1926.
381bid., February 10, 1898.
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the road was to be made a paying proposition and that the
superintendent, not the president, was to supervise the
running of the road.39

In the next few years the road operated in such a
manner that the income exceeded the outlay. Then, on July
12, 1901, the name of the road was changed to the Pittsburg
Railroad Company, with J. J. Tyler, president, and John
Tracy, secretafy. The Pittsburg Railroad Company now ran
the electric lines, and the Pittsburg Light and Power Com-
pany operated the electric lighting and power plant..40

It was announced, in February 1902, that the proposed
Twentieth Street connection was to be made on the line. W.
W. McKee, the new manager, supervised the connection, which
joined the Broadway line with the Grand Avenue line by way
of Twentieth, and on September 20, 1902, McKee announced
the completion of the loop.41

Little was done on the line from this time until the
coming of Fred H. Fitch in 1905; however, promotion of
electric railways did not cease. Many local and transient
"promoters" were quite willing to sell stock to any unsus-

pecting person with loose purse strings. And there were

many people taken in by the desire for rapid returns on

91bidg.

401pid., May 19, 1926; Interview with T. F. Cole, lay
6, 1948,

4lgeadlight, May 19, 1926.
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"small investments" made in electric railway companies.42

Some people lost money by investing in rail lines which
were actually planned but either fell under competition or
were not laid because of inadequate backing, poor management,
and other factors. Frank N. Moore, claiming to be backed
by eastern capitalists, proposed a Joplin-Pittsburg line via
Columbus and Cherokee, Mlore will be said of his attempts in
succeeding pages. R. C. Rawlins of Chanute planned to build
from the latter city through Mineral and St. Paul. C. V.
Crough, also in the "promoter" business, planned to build
from Pittsburg northward to Girard, Erie, Humboldt, and Iola.
There were other smaller ventures too numerous to mention.
On some of these lines some work was done, but nearly all of
them failed and it is doubtful that many of the investors
were reimbursed.43

About April 1, 1905, the Pittsburg Railroad Company
was purchased by Fred H, Fitch, president and general manager,
and Guy N. Walker, of New York, Soon after these men took
over the line, it was announced that an extensioﬁ to Scammon
and possibly to Columbus would soon be undertaken. Actual
G4

work was not commenced until late in the summer.,

In the spring of 1906 the management of the road was

42Interview with T. F. Cole, Nay 6, 1948; Mr. C. L.
Crocker, April 15, 1948.

43
Interview with T. F. Cole, May 6, 1948; Headlight,
Vay 19, 1926. : : :

“4Headlight, May 19, 1926.




14

changed and an extensive building program was initiated.
Je. W. Grounds, E. H. Irwin, and W. W. Calhoun of Carthage,
all former associates of Fitch in a Joplin rail enterprise,
purchased the interests of Guy N. Walker. W. W. Calhoun
was made president, and Fitch, secretary and general manager.45
In the meantime the company officials had obtained a
franchise from Weir City. This franchise, granted September
5, 1905, was "in consideration of a line of electric railway
in a northeasterly direction from Weir City to a connection
with the grantee's present system at Pittsburg and in a
Westeply or southwesterly direction at least as far as the
Main North and South line of the St. Louis and San Francisco
R°Rs Company....."46 The line was to be completed within
one year of the date of passage, no taxes - except the
regular property taxes - were to be levied against the road,
and the grant was to be valid for a fifty year period.47
By mid-January, 1906, the company was far along the
task of building into Weir City. Weather conditions slowed
the work somewhat, but the deadline was yet in the distance.48
By the first of February, the grading and track laying were

in advance of the bridge builders, and since material was

slow in arriving, the tracks had been laid over false work,

4SClarahan, op. cit., 56.

“yeir Ordinance No. 106, J. A. Fenimore franchise
collection (hereinafter cited as Fenimore, Collection).

471pbid.
481pbid., January 12, 1906,
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with the intention of building the bridges under the tracking
once the material became available.49

By mid-February the line had been pushed beyond Fleming,
a regular schedule was being kept into the town, and bridge
timbers had begun to arrive at the Frisco spur near‘the
Hamilton and Grant mine. The electric line crossed the
Frisco a short distance north of the H. & G. mine, and at
this junction a station was to be erected for the convenience
of the miners, the H. & G., Schwab, Central No, 41, and New
Central No. 39, all being in the immediate vicinity.50

Other werk was being done to the south. The Pittsburg
Railroad Company began to grade for a roadbed just north of
the Columbus city limits. This was done without an entry
franchise from the ce¢ity of Columbus in an attempt to drive
Captain Frank N, Moore's proposed line from the scene. -
Moore had secured & franchise from the city of Columbus at
an earlier date.Sl

'Frank N. Moore had been granted a charter, by the
State of Kansas, February 5, 1902, to establish %he Mineral
Cities Electric Railway Company with a capital of $1,500,000.°%

Moore and his company had earlier planned to connect Joplin,

Galena, Columbus, Weir City, Pittsburg, and Minden with

4
9Ibid., February 1, 1906,

507pid., February 15, 1906.
5l1yid., February 23, 1906.

521914., February 6, 1902.
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intervening camps. Stockholders were Frank N. Moore, of
North Orville, Pennsylvania; Avery Wilber, Baxter Springs;
Andrew Sheref, Columbusj A. H, Schlanger, Weir City; O. K.
Dean, Pittsburg; G. F. Farwell, Joplin; and E. E. Sapp of
Galena. MNMoore, it was alleged, held 975 of the 1,500 shares
of stocl«:.S:5

The Frank N. Moore project was unsuccessful from its
outset and not too much was heard of the Mineral Cities line
until the arrival of the Pittsburg Railroad Company crews at
the city limits of Columbus. At this point Moore was shaken
into action by the Pittsburg Company's request for a franchise.
Moore possessed a Columbus franchise and did not care to have
his rights trespassed upon.

With the Pittsburg company bidding for Columbus trade,
Moore had either to put crews to work or forget about his
franchise. He decided upon the former. Early in February
a meeting of Mineral Cities' stockholders was held in
Pittsburg and brought about a reorganization of the company.

H. E. Randall and Jas. Gayle, of Louisville, Kentucky, were
appointed directors of the company, and the immediate result
was a restatement of the company's intentions.54

A few days later Moore announced that he had just

succeeded in financing the road for the sixth time in five

years. He also announced that there would be no connection

531big.
5419;@., February 12, 1906.
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of the rejuvenated Mineral Cities line and the Pittsburg
line as rumored.ss' Four years earlier Moore had said that
with the exception of franchises from Pittsburg and Frontenac
he possessed all the franchises necessary for the construct-
ion of his line. At_that time he deemed the Pittsburg and
Frontenac franchise unnecessary since, "The Mineral Cities
Company intends to absorb the Pittsburg & Frontenac railway

56  Moore was now certain that he must

now in operation."
take immediate action, and his first thought was to keep
Fitch out of Columbus.

On March 2, 1906 Fitch announced that he had been
assured by President Rogers, of the Southwest lissouri
electric line, that an extension of the Southwest line
would be made from Galena to Columbus and there connected
with the Pittsburg line..57

On March 6 Fitch asked for a franchise from the
Columbus City Council. The Rawlins line of Chanute re-
quested a franchise the same day.58 These requgsts brought
Moore to Columbus in hot protest.

The Columbus Council at first declined to grant Fitch

the franchise on the grounds that his franchise would

55Ibid., February 15, 1906.

561bid,, February 17, 1902. This information bore a
Joplin News-Herald dateline. lMoore did much of his work in
the Joplin area, most of the work being paper work and
propaganda.

571pid., March 2, 1906.
581bid., March 6, 1906,
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parallel that held by Moore. Fitch tried to secure revocation
of Moore's franchise by calling attention to Modre's procras-
tination, offering to initiate active operation within ten
days and to have the line finished by January 1, 1907, the
day which Moore had promised to commence work.59

At this, Moore requested the Council to refrain from
action for thirty days while he took stock of his possibili-
ties of starting earlier. Fitch countered by offering the
Council a deposit of $10,000 to guarantee his compliance
with the terms laid out in his request for a franchise. He
went further and promised to have cars running from Scammon
to Columbus by July 4, 1906. The Council had heard enough,
refused to grant the franchises and adjourned.60

The next day, March 7, Fitch began the actual grading
about one mile north of the Columbus city limits and threat-
ened to by-pass the city in the event that'he did not receive
a franchise.el Following a meeting of the City Council of
Columbus on March 8, it was announced that Fitch would not
get his franchise.62 Fiteh continued grading.

Public opinion in Pittsburg tended to favor the
Columbus Council's refusal to grant the franchise. It was

believed that if the line were run into Stippville and

S9rpia.

601113, , March 6, 1906.
6lrpig., March 7, 1906.
621114, , Narch 9, 1906.
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terminated there that trade in the region would be drawn
into Pittsburg and away from Columbus. If a Columbus contact
were made, many people along the line might choose the shorter
distance when buying.es

While the Columbus battle raged, the line from Chicopee
to Weir was completed on March 9. The first run was made
two days later and regular service commenced.64

Fiteh, who was undismayed by the Columbus trouble, re-
vealed March 13 that he planned to extend his line north of
Pittsburg to take in the densely populated coal camps. It
was stated that about three years would be necessary to
complete the project.65 Not to be outdone, licore announced
on the same day that the Mineral Cities line would be ex-
tended north of Pittsburg.66

Three days later, March 16, the Fitch-Moore battle at
Columbus was started on its last phase by an order from
Judge McNeil. The order provided for commissions to settle
the Scammon-Columbus right of way question which'had arisen
during the franchise trouble. The Mineral Cities line was
represented by attorney E. V. McNeil and commissioners H. R..
Saddler, 0. F. Rittenhouse, and Pat Jolly. The Pittsburg

line was represented by attorneys John Curran of Pittsburg

63Ibid., March 12, 1906.

641pia., May 19, 1926.

651p14., March 13, 1906.

661pia.
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and S. L. Walker of Columbus, and commissioners A. S. Dennison,
Ed Kelley, and M. R. Steward.67 Following the appointment of
these commissions the Fitch-Moore Columbus battle dropped
from the news for some ' time.
As the line progressed it was necessary to obtain new
franchises, and May 12, 1906, the city of Mineral granted
its first franchise to the Pittsburg line. This franchise
stipulated that sixty pound "T" rails be used, that the
track be laid as nearly as possible in the center of the
street, and that electrical power be used. It also set the
speed limit for cars within the city at twelve miles per
hour in the business district and eighteen miles per hour
otherwise. The fare was not to exceed five cents. The
Pittsburg company was not to be taxed except by the regular
property laws. The company assumed all damages, costs, and
expenses incurred through exercising the grant.68
Weir passed a second ordinance on May 25 concerning the
Pittsburg line. The new ordinance amended section 3 of the
1905 ordinance by naming the streets which could be used by
the company. The first ordinance had not been specific in
this matter..69 The new legislation by Weir was passed just

four days before the completion of the Scammon power plant

71pid., March 16, 1906.

68Mineral Ordinance, No. 31, Fenimore, Collection.

69Weir Ordinance, No. 110, Fenimore, Collection.
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May 29.. After this plant was put into full operation,

Weir-Pittsburg traffic was put on a regular schedule.

Columbus finally granted a franchise to the Pittsburg
company and named her own terms on June 4, 1906, Two sections
of the franchise are particularly noteworthy.

Section 8., This franchise is granted upon the ex-
press stipulation that the grantee shall construct

a line of electric railway extending from Columbus

to Scammon, Kansas, and that cars shall be operated
between Columbus and Scammon within one year from

the date of the passage of this ordinance. Unless
the stipulation in this section is complied with then
this franchise shall be null and void.

Section 1ll. The grantee shall pay to the said city
on the first day of July, following the completion
of said railway, the sum of twenty-five ($25.00)
dollars, and each succeeding July thereafter the sum
of twenty-five ($25.00) dollars in lieu of franchise
tax, occupation tax, car tax or any tax of special
levy against the grantee or its property until the
population of said city shall exceed five thousand,
and then ten (10) dollars additional for each ine
thousand population above said five thousand .’

This franchise was published in the Columbus Daily Ad-
vocate June 5, 1906, and was readily accepted by the
Pittsburg company.

Scammon closely followed Columbus in granting the
company a franchise. The Scammon ordinance was passed June
S5, approved June 6, and published June 8.72 Sections 9 and

10 of this ordinance deal with building stipulations and

special concessions.

"headlight, May 19, 1926.

71Columbus Ordinance, No. 143, Fenimore, Collection.

7zscammon Journal, June 8, 1906.




22

Section 9. The franchise granted by this ordinance

is given upon the ‘express condition that the grantee
shall extend its road from Weir City to the South
line of Ross Township of Cherokee County, Kansas,

and have same in operation on or before January lst,
1907; and that it will construct a line of electric
Railway Westward from Scammon for the distance of at
least Five (5) miles, and that it will have the same
in operation as far West as Roseland by July 1lst, 1907,
and have the full Five miles West from Scammon in
operation by January lst, 1908; and if the grantee
fails to so extend its line within the time mentioned,
then this franchise shall be null and void.....

Section 10, In consideration of the operation of the

lines of electric Railway above set out, the City of

Scamuon, by its lMayor and Councilmen, agrees that

it will not impose upon the said grantee, its

successors and assigus, any license or occupation

tax or any other special tax except only the regular 73

tax whiech is imposed upon all property holders alike,

In the meantime, the work between Weir and Scammon was
being pushed ahead. Two grading gangs were on the job, and
about July 1, 1906, the road bed was ready.74 On August 17
the last rails of the Pittsburg-Scammon line were laid, and
three days later a regular schedule was commenced.75

On the same day that the Pittsburg-Scammon line was
finished, it was announced that the Southwestern liissouri
Electric Railroad Company had been reincorporated and re-
organized. This was done to facilitate the building of a

line from Webb City and Joplin to Pittsburg by way of Carl

7§§cammon Ordinance, No. 35, Fenimore, Collection.
This ordinance was amended in 1907 with regard to the
extension of the line from the city of Scammon.

"eadlignt, Nay 19, 1926.
"S1pig..
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Junction and Opolis.76

The new charter provided for the construction and
operation of 101 miles of electric railway in Jasper County,
Missouri, and Southeastern Kansas. The lines were planned
as follows: from Carthage, via Webb City and Joplin, to
Galena, Kansas, then to Baxter Springs, Kansas; from Joplin
via Duenwig to Carterville, in Jasper County; from Webb City,
via Carl Junction, Missouri, to Pittsburg and Columbus,
Kansas..'r7

The new company was incorporated, with a capital stock
of $5,000,000, by A. H. Rogers, of Joplin; E. E. Wallower,

E. Bailey, A. G. Kneisland, E. A. Hermann, and C. W. Riley,
all of Harrisburg, Pennsylvania; I. W. Frey, Joplin; Samuel
McReynolds of Carthage; and W. S. Chinn, of Webb City.78
This company was the same that was at that time operating
the Joplin interurban system, commonly known as the Rogers
Line.

September, 1906 passed without notable inecident, but
October brought action once again. On the fifth day of the
latter month the city of Cherokee passed and approved an

ordinance granting entry to the Pittsburg company. 79

76Ibid., August 17, 1906.

T 1pid.
781p14.

7QCherokeé Ordinance, No. 85, Fenimore, Collection;
Cherokee Sentinel, November 2, 1906.
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Sections 10 and 14 of this ordinance deal with taxation and
express stipulations.

Section 10, The grantee shall pay to said city on

the first day of October following the completion

of said railway the sum of twenty-five (25) dollars
and each succeeding October thereafter the sum of
twenty-five (25) dollars in lieu of franchise tax,
occupation, car tax or any tax of special levy against
the grantee or its property until the population of
said city shall exceed five thousand and then ten (10)
dollars additional for each one thousand population
above said five thousand.

Section 14, This ordinance is granted upon the ex-
press stipulation that the grantee shall construct a
line of electric railway connecting the city of Cher-
okee with the grantee's system of electriec railways
at or near Fleming, Kansas, and the cars shall be in
regular operation over said extension and into the
city of Cherokee within one year from the date of the
passage of this ordinance. Unless this stipulation
is compligg with then this franchise shall be null
and void.

About three o'clock, on the afternoon of October 18,
1906, the once hotly contested Columbus line was finished.
A test run was made over the line and regular service was
commenced October 20, the first car leaving Columbus at
6.35 in the morning.al

With the completion of this extension, the towns of
Frontenac, Kirkwood, Chicopee, Fleming, Schwab, Daisy Hill,
Weir City, Scammon, Stippville, Turck, Mineral, and Columbus

were all connected with the rapidly growing city of Pittsburg.

Five months later a new line, not part of the Pittsburg

807114,

8lhcadlight, October 19, 1906; May 19, 1926.

821pi4., May 19, 1926.

82
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company, was set up in Girard, Kansas. On lMarch 14, 1907,
the Girard Coal Belt Electric Railway Company was organized
by residents of Girard using only local capital.83 The
directors for the line were F. B. Higgie, James licFarland,
L. H, Phillips, and J. A. Wayland. Officers for the company
were James McFarland, president; J. A. Wayland, vice pres-
ident; L. H. Phillips, secretary, and Howard C. Leonard,
tréasurer.84

The company was organized without a charter from the

city,85

and it was some time before information concerning
the plans of the company was made available. It was believed
at first that the company intended to build intc the new
coal fields to the east, the section around Arma and Mulberry.
It was also supposed that a connection would be made by the
Fitch lines in that neighborhood.%®
On-April 24, 1907, the city of Girard granted to the
Girard Coal Belt Electric Railway Company the franchise

87

which it had requested. Sections 1 and 6 contain the

two most important provisions.

83

Girard Press, March 14, 1907.

8%peadlight, March 14, 1907.

851p14., March 27, 1907.

861pid.

879;;ard Ordinance, No. 299, Fenimore, Collection;
Girard Press, August 15, 1907; Girard Ordinance Record,
No. 1, 315-319.
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Section 1. A franchise for fifty years is hereby
granted to the Girard Coal Belt Electric Railway
Company, its successors and assigns, hereinafter
designated as grantee, to establish construct,
maintain extend and operate an electric railway and
car system for carrying passengers, express and
freight, by either single or double track, with the
necessary buildings for furnishing power and

depots within the City of Girard, Crawford County,
KansaSeee oo

Section 6., The said grantee shall have  the said road

completed and in operation within the limits of this

city within eighteen months from the passage of this

ordinance; provided however, the said grantee may be

granted a reasonable extension of time in the event

of suits, strikes or other cagges beyond the reason-

able control of said grantee.

By the end of July, 1907, the road was well under way,
and all needed material had been purchased.89 Power for
the line was to be furnished by the G.C.E.R.R. plant which
was built beside the Girard municipal power plant. The
company purchased steam from the latter to run its 150-kilo-
watt, 500-volt unit. This was a well engineered and efficient
plant .20

When the line was finished a main track ran from Girard
to Ringo and then east to Edson, Franklin, Arma and
Croweburg; a spur line ran from Ringo to Dunkirk..gl These
lines were operated by the Girard company until January 15,

1909, when it was purchased by the Heim lines for $150,000

88rp1q.
891eadlight, July 30, 1907.
9OInterview with T. F. Cole, May 6, 1948,

glClarahan, op. cit., 57,
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and added to the Joplin-Pittsburg road.92

About eight months after the completion of the Columbus
line Scammon passed June 25, 1907, an ordinance amending
the franchise granted June 5, 1906.93 The part of the
franchise amended was Section 9.94 The most important
changes are as follows:

The said grantee herein hereby agrees that it will
build, construct, and operate by January first, 1908,
a line of electric railway from Scammon westward for
the distance of at least five miles from said City of
Scammon, Kansas;...and in full operation, cars run-
ning thereon on regular and fixed schedule, by the
first day of January, 1208; That the work of con-
struction on said last-mentioned line of electric
railway to be built, constructed and operated by
grantee be commenced by grantee not later than the
fifteenth day of July, 1907, in good faith and with
proper and reasonablgsforce of men, teams and con-
structing force.....

On July 12, 1907, about one month after the Scammon
change, news of a Fitch-Heim merger reached the publiec.
Many stories had circulated concerning the merger, but until
the confirmation little had been known. It had been rumored
that J. W. Ground, of Carthage, had negotiated the merger
for a $100,000 fee, but T. K. Irwin, an associate of Fitch,

96

publicly stated that the rumor was not true., Mr. Irwin,

9%Headlight, May 19, 1926.

'9§§cammon Ordinance, No. 40, Fenimore, Collection.

%45 00tnote 73.

95§cammon Ordinance, No. 40, Fenimore, Collection.

96geadlight, July 12, 1907 (Carthage dateline).
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however, did reveal that the merger of the two interests had
cost the newly organized Joplin-Pittsburg Railway Company
$2,000,000 and that the new road would be capitalized at
$5,000,000. Of this $5,000,000, Fitch and his associates
were to hold $£,000,000, and J. J. Heim and his associates
were to hold the rest.97
The Joplin & Pittsburg Railway Company was organized Dby
Joseph J. Heim and John Prescott, of Kansas City; H. W.
Noble, a banker of Detroit; D. L. Robinson, a bond broker
of Buffalo; and associated investors from southern ¥issouri,2®
The company headquarters were established in the office
of J. A. Prescott in the First National Bank building in
Kansas City. The officers were J. J. Heim, president; W. W.
Calhoun, a lumberman of Carthage, vice president; and J.A.
Prescott, secretary and treasurer. An executive committee
composed of Heim, Prescott, and J. W. Ground were also
appointed.99
It was announced after the merger that the compaiy
intended to commence work immediately on approximately fifty
miles of line in connection with the newly acquired system.

This extension was to be from Scammon to Mineral and on to

Parsons, It was also planned to build north from Pittsburg

971vid.

9§Ihid,, July 12, 1907 (Kansas City dateline).

9971114,
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to Curranville.loo

On July 13, it was revealed that, after several amend-
ments to the Joplin franchise, the new company had agreed
to build and have in operation a line between Joplin and
Pittsburg within a year's time.lOl The work was to be

PORTER LIBRARY
commenced within thirty days after the approval of the fran-
chise; the line was to run from Joplin to Chitwood through
Carl Junction and on into Pittsburg.102 It was also stip-
ulated that the company must deposit $10,000 with the city
treasurer as a forfeiture bond.105 If the stipulations of
the grant were fulfilled, the $10,000 was to be returned to
the company, if not, the bond went to the city of Joplin.

On July 16, 1907, public notice was served that the
Joplin & Pittsburg Railway Company had been granted a charter
by the Kansas state charter board. The application stated
that the company was holding 50,000 shares of stock at $100
per share.104 The charter fee was $2,577.50, and the line
as related in the charter was to run:

In the city of Joplin and from and through it to

points in the environs, and northerly through

Jasper county, lMo., and Crawford and Cherokee

counties, Kas., to Pittsburg, and from Pittsburg,

to Columbus, with lines connecting Pittsburg and
Columbus with other points in Crawford, Cherokee

1001p14,
1011pi4., July 13, 1907 (Joplin dateline).
1021314,
1031314,
104;g;g., July 16, 1907 (Topeka dateline).
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and Labette counties. Also in a southerly direction
through Jasper and Newton Counties, Mo., to Neosho,
and in a westerly direction through Jasper county,
Mo., and Cherokee county, Kas.,, to connect with the
lines described at ColumEBE. The length is to be
approximately 150 miles.,

It was announced on July 18, 1907, that work on the
Joplin-Pittsburg extension had commenced.106 On July 30,
Harry F. Coleman, who was in charge of grading crews, stated
that Asbury would be made the distribution point for material
and that Pittsburg-Asbury cars would be runaning within six

months if all went well.107

March 19, 1908.108

The entire line was completed

During the building of the Joplin & Pittsburg extension
little else was accomplished by the line, and no additional
franchises were obtained, although Scammon did feel called
upon once again to amend her original franchise, which she
did December 27, 1907.log The new ordinance amended Ordi-
nance No. 40 and Section 9 of Ordinance No. 35, giving a
six months extension in which to complete unbuilt lines.llo

The year 1908 was not one of great activity'for the

Joplin & Pittsburg company. The panic of 1907 had produced

Ibid.
1061414, , July 18, 1907.

1071314, , July 30, 1907.

108114, , nay 19, 1926.

l09§cammon Ordinance, No. 45, Fenimore, Collection.

1107134,
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a sobering effect, and the company wished to have the in-
come exceed the outlay for a safe period of time.lll The
only tracking completed was that of the Mineral line from
Joplin to Pittsburg.

In October, 1908, strike rumors were in the air. These
had started with the opening of the "air line,"112 and had
finally come to a head. The question was that of seniority.
On October 5, President Heim, of the company, met with a
commnittee composed of car men Reese, Riley, Fenimore, Hudson
and Williams, With these car men was Bramlet, President of
the State Federation of Labor.lla

Fenimore, chairman of the group, opened the conference
with a request for seniority rights. When Heim was informed
of the nature of the trouble, he immediately sanctioned the
requested practice. The oldest men of the road were to be
given day runs on the "air line," and when these runs were
filled, the men next in line were to have the night runs of

of their choice.ll4

This quieted the labor troubles for some
time,

On the next day, October 6, a banquet was held in
Joplin for the exchange of felicitations between Joplin and

Pitt<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>